
 

 

Agenda - Public Accounts and Public Administration 

Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 

Meeting date: 15 February 2023 

Meeting time: 09.00

For further information contact: 

Fay Bowen 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales
------ 

This meeting will be broadcast live on www.senedd.tv  

 

(Private pre-meeting)  

(09:00-09:15) 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions 

(09:15)   

2 Papers to note 

(09:15 - 09:30)   

2.1 Letter from the Permanent Secretary to the Committee Chair on the Tailored 

Review 

 (Page 1)  

2.2 Letter from the Welsh Government on the Supplementary Legislative Consent 

Memoranda on the Procurement Bill 

 (Page 2)  

2.3 Letter from the Welsh Government to the Chair of the Legislation and Justice 

Committee on the Supplementary Legislative Consent Memoranda 

 (Pages 3 - 9)  

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: 

(09:30)   

The remainder of the meeting. 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

4 Audit Wales Report  - A Picture of Flood Risk Management 

(09:30 - 09:50) (Pages 10 - 61)  

5 Draft Report - Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Accounts 2020-

21 

(09:50 - 11:00) (Pages 62 - 114)  



Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park Ffôn ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
Caerdydd ● Cardiff PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 

CF10 3NQ Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol. https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations. https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

Dr Andrew Goodall 
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol 
Permanent Secretary 

Mark Isherwood MS 
Chair, Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1SN 

30 January 2023 

Dear Mr Isherwood, 

Thank you for your letter dated 9 January 2023. I share your concerns over the delay to 
the consultation of the Tailored Review programme. In my letter of 29 March 2022, I 
said that the consultation was due to be completed by April and I also explained the 
progress we were making with the sign off of the Tailored Review Guidance for Wales. I 
was disappointed that we did not finalise either of these in 2022. This was due to a 
range of issues with the staffing levels in Public Bodies Unit and the time taken up with 
getting the Tailored Review of the Museum up and running.  

I am strengthening the governance around the work of the public bodies work, which will 
be led by the Chief Operating Officer, Tim Moss. This will maintain oversight of, and 
ensure sign off, for both the Tailored Review programme and the Guidance for Wales. 

I hope that this response is helpful to the Committee in its work. 

Sincerely, 

Dr Andrew Goodall 
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol/ Permanent Secretary 
Llywodraeth Cymru/ Welsh Government 

PAPA(6)-03-23 PTN1 - Letter from the Welsh Government on the Tailored Review

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2.1

mailto:PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales
http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 
corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Mark Isherwood MS  
Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee Chair 

6 February 2023 

Dear Mark, 

The UK Government’s Procurement Bill – supplementary legislative consent 
memoranda  

Thank you for your letter and the questions put forward relating to the Procurement Bill 
Legislative Consent Memoranda (LCM). I am pleased to provide my response below.    

I will ensure you are copied into the response I send to the Chair of the Legislation, Justice 
and Constitution Committee.  

The amendment included in LCM No. 4, and referred to in your letter dated 30 January, is 
likely to be removed by the UK Government during the committee stage. As a result, my 
officials did not need to consider the implications of this amendment any further. 

Yours sincerely, 

Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

PAPA(6)-03-23 PTN2 - Letter from the Welsh Government to the Chair on the SLCM

Pack Page 2

Agenda Item 2.2

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru


Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

        Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.  

Huw Irranca-Davies 
Chair, Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

cc. Mark Isherwood
Chair, Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee

08 February 2023 

Dear Huw, 

Thank you for your letter and the questions put forward by your Committee relating to the 

Procurement Bill Supplementary Legislative Consent Memoranda (Memorandum No. 3 and 

Memorandum No. 4). I am pleased to provide my response, which is attached at Annex 1.  

I am copying this letter to the Chair of the Public Accounts and Public Administration 

Committee, who has also written to me and requested that they receive a copy of my 

response to you.  

Yours sincerely, 

Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

PAPA(6)-03-23 PTN3 - Letter from the Welsh Government to the Chair of the LJC Committee on the SLCM

Pack Page 3

Agenda Item 2.3

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru


Annex 1 
 
1. You state in the memoranda that you continue to have concerns with the Bill which 

need to be resolved before you could consider recommending consent. These 

matters are in respect of the power to add international agreements, the definition 

of Welsh Contracting Authorities, commencement powers, and powers to make 

consequential provision. Please could you: 

a. provide an update on the degree to which each of these matters have been 

resolved, if at all; 

b. indicate whether, since Memorandum No. 3 and No. 4 have been laid, 

discussions on each of these matters have been held at Ministerial level, or at 

official level; 

c. indicate whether you have escalated any of these disagreements to a dispute 

under the Dispute Avoidance and Resolution Process established by the review 

of intergovernmental relations, and if not, why not. 

The majority of the outstanding matters of concern you mention have now been 

satisfactorily resolved. An amendment to the definition of a Welsh Contracting 

Authority has been agreed and has been tabled for consideration at Commons 

Committee. This will make it clear that the Welsh rules apply to such authorities if they 

operate or exercise functions wholly or mainly in relation to Wales. The Cabinet Office 

has also agreed to our request to amend the powers to make consequential provision 

to concurrent plus powers, which means UK Government (UKG) Ministers will require 

the consent of the Welsh Ministers (WMs) when exercising this power in relation to 

devolved areas. An amendment has been tabled for consideration at Commons 

Committee. Both these matters were discussed and resolved at official level and were 

subject to Ministerial approval. Lastly, following both official and Ministerial level 

discussions, the Cabinet Office has tabled an amendment to the Bill to ensure a 

Minister of the Crown seeks the consent of the WMs before commencing the Bill’s 

provisions in relation to the devolved Welsh aspects of the Bill.  

The matters which are still outstanding relate to international trade. The first matter is 

that the power to add international agreements to the list in Schedule 9 to the Bill has 

been included as a concurrent power, with no requirement to obtain the consent of 

WMs when UK Government (UKG) Ministers are exercising this power in relation to 

devolved areas. We have been clear with UK Government that this arrangement is not 

acceptable. 

The second matter of concern relates to trade disputes and has arisen because of an 

amendment tabled by the UKG on 25 January 2023. The effect of the amendment is 

that it creates a concurrent power for a Minister of Crown to make regulations to deal 

with the procurement consequences of a trade dispute under a treaty implemented by 

way of Schedule 9 (other than the Trade and Cooperation Agreement with the EU, 

which is dealt with under existing legislation) with no requirement to obtain the consent 

of WMs when UKG Ministers are exercising this power in relation to devolved areas. 

We have been clear with UK Government that this arrangement is also not acceptable. 

With regards to the international trade issues, detailed discussions have been held at 

Ministerial level and remain ongoing at official level. 

Pack Page 4



We have maintained a good working relationship with UKG on the Procurement Bill 

and, so far, we have been able to reach agreed solutions without needing to rely on 

the Dispute Avoidance and Resolution Process set out in the inter-governmental 

agreement. It is not anticipated that it will be necessary to resolve the outstanding 

matters using the Process, however, should relationships breakdown in the future, we 

would look to escalate through the Inter-Ministerial Standing Committee in the first 

instance. 

 
2. In Memorandum No. 3 you state that the concern you had with regard to a 

disapplication power for healthcare services, which you referred to in previous 

legislative consent memoranda, had been resolved. You stated in the first 

memorandum that the UK Government had committed to bring forward the 

required amendment. However, in Memorandum No. 2 you stated that the Welsh 

Ministers had decided not to pursue the inclusion of the power, but were 

considering various options, which may include taking forward the powers 

required via Senedd legislation. The Minister for Health and Social Services has 

recently informed the Health and Social Care Committee that the Welsh 

Government will introduce a Health Service Procurement (Wales) Bill to make 

provision for a “disapplication power” for Welsh health services procurement and 

a “creation power” to enable the Welsh Ministers to introduce a new separate 

procurement regime for NHS health services in Wales. The Minister states that the 

Welsh Government will propose an expedited timetable for the Bill. Please could 

you: 

a. explain why the Welsh Government has changed its position on the inclusion of 

the disapplication power for healthcare within the Procurement Bill, considering 

a commitment to bring forward the relevant amendment was secured from the 

UK Government; 

UK Government only committed to the disapplication power within the Procurement 

Bill. Ministers recognised that both powers were required to effect change and 

therefore there remained a need to legislate in Wales. Given this need to legislate, 

Welsh Ministers decided bringing forward a Bill that included both the disapplication 

and creation powers together provided the necessary legislation and gave greater 

coherence and accessibility to the legislation. 

 

b. confirm whether the Welsh Government has assessed the impact of its decision 

on the accessibility of Welsh procurement law, and if an assessment has been 

undertaken, please set out the outcome of that assessment. For these purposes, 

it would appear to us that a Welsh contracting authority may have to consider 

the Procurement Bill and subordinate legislation to be made under it, the Health 

Service Procurement (Wales) Bill, the Social Partnership and Public 

Procurement (Wales) Bill and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015; 

The Welsh Government regularly assesses the accessibility implications of legislative 

proposals. This is a normal part of the Office of the Legislative Counsel’s remit and it is 

also taken into account when deciding whether the UK Parliament or Government 

should legislate on Wales’s behalf.  
Pack Page 5



We do not consider it would be more accessible to use a single Act for the various 

provisions that relate to procurement. 

The Social Partnership and Public Procurement (SPPP) Bill’s provisions on 

procurement are essentially about social partnership and are a more accessible fit in 

an Act about social partnership (rather than in a Bill that is about public procurement 

procedures). This is designed to dovetail with the Well-being of Future Generation Act 

2015, which sets out the wider organisational principles for public bodies in Wales. 

The social partnership principles involved are connected to the provisions about 

sustainable development, hence the need to refer to the 2015 Act.  

The Health Services Procurement (Wales) (HSPW) Bill is a temporary legislative 

vehicle as its provisions are designed to amend existing legislation, specifically:  

• the UK Procurement Act (by inserting a Welsh “disapplication power” immediately 

after a corresponding English disapplication power), and  

• the NHS (Wales) Act 2006 (by inserting a “creation power”).  

This is the most accessible approach because:  

• once the HSPW Act has amended the UK Procurement Act and NHS (Wales) Act 

2006, users will just read the two amended Acts - there will be no need to refer to 

the HSPW Act, its “work having been done”; 

• the UK Procurement Act is the logical home for the disapplication power because it 

makes clear that health services are treated differently (and it will sit next to the 

corresponding English disapplication power); 

• the NHS (Wales) Act 2006 is the logical home for the creation power, as the 

principal Act in Wales on health services (and similarly the corresponding English 

creation power is to be inserted into the equivalent piece of legislation applying in 

England, the National Health Service Act 2006). 

 

c. confirm whether the Welsh Government had considered broadening the scope 

of the Health Service Procurement (Wales) Bill to include wider provisions 

relating to the processes underpinning procurement law in Wales, which would 

largely mirror those in the UK Government’s Procurement Bill, and seek 

provisions within the legislative competence of the Senedd to be removed from 

the Procurement Bill; 

The Health Services Procurement (Wales) Bill (HSPWB) was conceived in response to 

the Department of Health and Social Care’s Health and Care Act 2022, which provides 

a legislative basis for establishing the Provider Selection Regime (PSR) that will 

govern the arrangement of healthcare services in England. The PSR will remove a 

limited range of healthcare services from the requirement to undertake a full 

procurement process. The HSPWB will establish a bespoke procurement regime for 

healthcare services in Wales which mirrors that provided for under the Health and 

Care Act, thereby creating an appropriate and effective framework for the procurement 

of healthcare services on a level playing field in England and Wales.   

 

The aim of the PSR is to encourage flexibility and move away from the expectation of 

competition in some circumstances. The HSPWB will only apply to certain healthcare 
Pack Page 6



services and means that contracts for those services would not need to be procured in 

accordance with the Procurement Act. 

There are benefits of joining UKG's Procurement Bill including ensuring that there will 

be continuity for suppliers and cross-border businesses. It’s unlikely Ministers would 

be able to completely replicate the cross-border provisions in a Senedd Bill as taking 

forward our own Bill would likely affect our ability to use the central platform and could 

lead to different procurement processes to England. The joint approach also means 

that these reforms can be enacted in Wales sooner than would otherwise have been 

possible. 

 

d. indicate whether you believe legislating on procurement law via three bills 

introduced in different legislatures in close succession to each other follows a 

logical approach to legislating; and whether you will undertake an internal 

review of the approach taken to inform future practice. 

The Social Partnership and Public Procurement Bill is currently being considered by 

the Senedd. This Bill provides a policy and outcome framework to improve public 

services in Wales, through social partnership working, promoting fair work and socially 

responsible public procurement. The UK Government is proposing to introduce a new 

procurement regime through its Procurement Bill that will make provision for the 

process of procuring generic ‘goods, services and works’. The provisions in the Health 

Services Procurement (Wales) Bill are different in that they relate to the operational 

process of procuring health services in Wales and the Bill has been brought forward in 

response to procurement reforms being progressed for health services in England by 

the Department of Health and Social Services under their proposed Provider Selection 

Regime. Careful consideration will be given to ensure implementation plans 

understand the wider context.  

I do not consider an internal review would be appropriate or beneficial, as my officials 

have worked with colleagues across the organisation to ensure there is maximum 

alignment as each of these three Bills has developed. I am confident that the approach 

taken provides certainty and clarity for buyers and suppliers across Wales and will 

establish an effective and efficient regime for procurement that maximises 

opportunities to deliver social, environmental, economic and cultural outcomes for 

Wales. 

 
3. Clause 50 of the Bill (Contract details notices and publication of contracts), as 

referenced in both memoranda, includes a regulation-making power for the Welsh 

Ministers subject to the negative procedure. However, by virtue of an amendment, 

the corresponding power to Minsters of the Crown is subject to the affirmative 

procedure. Please could you provide an overview of any discussions you are 

having to seek to amend the power for the Welsh Ministers to also be subject to 

the affirmative procedure. 

This clause is now clause 53 in the version of the Bill as brought from the Lords. 

There is no regulation making power for the Welsh Ministers under this clause and 

therefore no question arises as to the applicable procedure. 

 Pack Page 7



4. Clause 88 of the Bill (Notices, documents and information: regulations and online 

system), as referenced in Memorandum No. 3, provides that a Minister of the 

Crown must make arrangements to establish and operate an online system for the 

purpose of publishing notices, documents and other information under the Bill. 

There are Welsh online systems which may have some of the same functionality. 

Please could you clarify how these systems may interact, or whether the new 

system to be established by a Minister of the Crown will replace any existing 

systems, and could you indicate if you are seeking amendments to provide the 

Welsh Ministers with an equivalent power. 

Sell2Wales will be used to publish procurement lifecycle notices produced by Welsh 

Contracting Authorities under the secondary legislation that will come into effect in Wales 

as a result of the Bill. Sell2Wales will then ‘push’ the relevant procurement lifecycles 

notices into the new UK online system established by the Minister of the Crown. This is 

the same way as Sell2Wales notice data is currently pushed into the UKGs existing Find 

a Tender Service. This will enable Wales to meet transparency requirements set out in 

the Bill and ensure compliance with obligations under international trade agreements 

which require all UK’s procurements above certain thresholds to be advertised in a single 

place. The new UK online system will not replace the need for existing Welsh platforms 

which will be updated to support the new procurement lifecycle notices. Officials are 

working to ensure that the systems integrate as seamlessly as possible.  

 

The Bill provides Welsh Ministers with an equivalent power to determine the “form and 

content of notices, documents or other information to be published”. The approach that 

has been outlined enables Wales to collect additional procurement lifecycle notice 

information within Sell2Wales. We will not therefore be seeking an amendment to provide 

Welsh Ministers with an equivalent power to make arrangements to establish and 

operate an online system for the purpose of publishing notices, documents and other 

information under the Bill. 

 

5. You consider clause 12 and 80 of the Bill to be within the legislative competence of 

the Senedd. However, these provisions do not apply to devolved Welsh 

procurement arrangements. Additionally, devolved Welsh authorities (within the 

meaning of section 157A of the Government of Wales Act 2006) are not required to 

have regard to the national procurement policy statement under clause 12 and are 

not subject to clause 80, except in relation to procurement under a reserved 

procurement arrangement. Please could you clarify why you believe these clauses 

require consent. 

 
There will be instances where the duty to have regard to the National Procurement Policy 

Statement (now clause 13(10) in the version of the Bill brought from the Lords) and 

clause 80 which relates to regulated below threshold contracts (now clause 84 in the 

version of the Bill as brought from the Lords) will apply to Welsh contracting authorities. 

For example, where a Welsh local authority collaborates with an English local authority 

on a procurement, and the English local authority is the lead authority. 

For this reason, we believe these clauses are within the legislative competence of the 

Senedd.  

Pack Page 8



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 10

Agenda Item 4 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



A Picture of Flood Risk 
Management
Report of the Auditor General for Wales

December 2022

Pack Page 12



page 2 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

The Auditor General is independent of the Senedd and government. He examines and certifies 
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including 
NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the Senedd on the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their 
resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales 
Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise 
the Auditor General.

© Auditor General for Wales 2022

Audit Wales is the umbrella brand of the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office, 
which are each separate legal entities with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not itself a 
legal entity. While the Auditor General has the auditing and reporting functions described above, 
the Wales Audit Office’s main functions are to provide staff and other resources for the exercise 
of the Auditor General’s functions, and to monitor and advise the Auditor General.

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. 
If you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The 
material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the 
title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need 
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. 
We welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or 
English and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not 
lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

This report has been prepared for presentation to the Senedd 
under the Government of Wales Act 1998.

Pack Page 13

mailto:info%40audit.wales?subject=


page 3 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Contents

About this report 4

Key facts 6

Key issues 7

Detailed report
1 Flood risk management: context 9

2 Flood risk management: strategy 16

3 Flood risk management: finances 23

4 Flood risk management: capacity 35

5 Flood risk management: performance and delivery 38

Appendices 
1 Audit approach and methods 45

Pack Page 14



page 4 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

1  In recent years, Wales has suffered devastating impacts from flooding. 
Despite continued investment, flooding continues to present significant 
risks to the country. Flood risk, and the costs of managing it are increasing 
with climate change. Extreme weather events like the storms in winter 
2019-20 are likely to become more frequent but it is impossible to predict 
exactly where and when they will occur.

2  Flood risk management has been the subject of several reviews over the 
past ten years, including our own review of coastal flooding and erosion1  
in 2016. Our review found that the Welsh Government and partners were 
improving their approach to flooding and coastal erosion risk management, 
although the pace of change had been slower than planned. We said 
further improvements were needed to address capacity issues, plan for the 
long term, and ensure that spending provided value for money.

3  The Senedd Public Accounts Committee used our work to inform its 
own inquiry2 and report in 2017. The Welsh Government’s 2020 National 
Strategy for Flooding and Coastal Erosion3 (the National Strategy), its 
second in this area, includes actions to address the findings of both 
reviews. Nevertheless, the flooding sector faces considerable ongoing 
challenges.

4  Also in 2020, the Senedd Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs 
Committee held a short inquiry into the Welsh Government’s response to 
the winter floods in February 20204. The Committee concluded that there 
are difficult conversations to be had between the Welsh Government and 
its partners, and with communities, about where and how to invest, and 
what can reasonably be achieved with finite resources.

1 Auditor General for Wales, Coastal Flood and Erosion Risk Management in Wales, July 2016
2 Senedd Public Accounts Committee, Coastal Flood and Erosion Risk Management in Wales, 

June 2017
3 Welsh Government, The National Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

in Wales, October 2020
4 Senedd Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee, Flooding in Wales, 

December 2020

About this report

Pack Page 15



page 5 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

5 While we have been undertaking our work, several important reviews have 
been taking place or are proposed. In particular, the Wales Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Committee, which acts as an independent advisory body 
to Welsh Ministers, finalised a review of resources in May 20225. It made 
20 proposals to improve the national approach and the Welsh Government 
is currently considering its formal response.

6 This Picture of Flood Risk Management report explains how flood risk 
management works in Wales, including expenditure trends. Flood 
risk management is a complex area, and our report is not intended to 
be comprehensive. It also focuses on the management of flood risk 
rather than the emergency response when floods do happen. We set 
out what we consider to be some of the key issues, recognising that 
other commentators and review bodies will have their own perspective. 
Appendix 1 describes our audit approach and methods.

7  The report is part of our ongoing programme of work looking at how public 
bodies are responding to the challenges of climate change. In July and 
August 2022, we published our first reports on public sector readiness 
to achieve the collective ambition to have net zero carbon emissions by 
20306. We will consider looking again at flood risk management in Wales 
over the next few years to see how well the Welsh Government, Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW) and local authorities are responding to the 
issues identified in the Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee’s review of 
resources and the broader challenges facing the flooding sector.

5 The report is available on request to the Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee.
6 Auditor General for Wales, Public Sector Readiness for Net Zero Carbon by 2030, July 2022; 

and Public Sector Readiness for Net Zero Carbon by 2030: Evidence Report, August 2022Pack Page 16



page 6 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Key facts

117,000 
properties 
at ‘high risk’ 
of flooding 
(2019)

3,130  
properties known 
to be flooded 
in the February 
2020 storms

£81 million   
estimated 
property damage 
from the February 
2020 storms 

£59.6 million 
Welsh Government 
funding for flood risk 
management,  
2021-22 (at 2022-23 
prices) 

48.7%  Real terms 
Welsh Government 
budget increase for 
flood risk management 
by 2024-25 (from 
2021-22)

28 Risk Management 
Authorities including 
the Welsh Government, 
NRW, water companies 
and local authorities

Pack Page 17



page 7 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Key issues

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

We have seen the terrible impact of flooding 
on our communities and the economy and 
climate change means this is likely to happen 
more frequently. The issues are not new.  
Our previous audit work and other reviews 
have highlighted the need for action in 
long-term planning, adapting to climate 
change and building workforce capacity. 
Despite some positive developments, there 
are serious questions about whether public 
services can keep pace with the increasing 
risks and challenges associated with flooding.

Pack Page 18



page 8 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 1: key issues affecting flood risk management in Wales

Significant long-term investment will likely be needed to tackle the 
increasing flood risks associated with climate change.
There are likely to be tough decisions about how to invest finite 
resources to manage flood risk.

Detail in paragraphs 3.14 to 3.19.

Increasing workforce capacity is the most immediate priority for the 
flooding sector.
Without investment in the future flood risk management workforce, it will 
be difficult to achieve the ambitions in the National Strategy. A long-term, 
system-wide approach is needed.

Detail in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.6.

There are gaps in collective leadership and policy integration.
There is no Wales-wide forum for senior leaders to discuss flood risk 
management and drive strategic change. There are also opportunities to 
better integrate policy and funding arrangements across public services 
to improve flood risk management.

Detail in paragraphs 5.6 to 5.10.

There are gaps in flood risk data and the risks themselves keep 
changing with climate change.
Understanding the impact of flood risk management activity is difficult. 
Firstly, the condition of Wales’s flood defences is not clear because there 
is currently no complete single source of information on the condition of 
defences owned by all parties. Secondly, climate change is changing the 
risks. Building developments or new flood defences can also move flood 
risk from one place to another.

Detail in paragraphs 5.11 to 5.17.

Building development in high flood risk areas could be exposing 
households and businesses to avoidable flood risk.
National data on planning consents shows significantly higher levels of 
development in high flood risk areas in 2016-17 to 2018-19 compared 
to 2015-16. However, beyond 2018-19 there is no national data to judge 
new risks resulting from development. 

Detail in paragraphs 5.18 to 5.21.

Pack Page 19



Flood risk 
management: context

01 Pack Page 20



page 10 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Climate change is increasing the risks of flooding

1.1 For the Welsh Government, the term ‘flood and coastal erosion risk’ 
covers flooding from rivers, the sea, reservoirs, ordinary watercourses, 
groundwater, and surface water as well as coastal erosion. Flooding from 
water and sewerage systems also presents risks to property but is the 
responsibility of water companies. Former industrial sites, including coal 
mines, can also flood or suffer landslides7.

1.2 Flood risk is described using four categories based on the chance of 
flooding occurring in any given year (Exhibit 2). NRW estimates that 
one in eight properties in Wales (245,000 properties) are at some risk 
of flooding from either rivers, the sea or surface water with almost 400 
of those properties also at risk from coastal erosion. Of the 245,000 
properties at risk, 117,000 properties are at high risk8.

Exhibit 2: flood risk categories

Risk Chance of flooding in any given year

 Greater or equal to once in 30 years

Less than once in 30 but greater than once 
in 100 years

Less than once in 100 but greater than once 
in 1,000 years

Less than once in 1,000 years

Source: Categories set out in the 2020 Welsh Government’s National  
Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management in Wales

7 Management of risk associated with Welsh coal mines is the subject of a UK Government 
Task Force and law commission review as well as a project to assess and record risks 
associated with mines by the Coal Authority, Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), 
local authorities and NRW.

8 Flooding risk is based on modelled data. NRW cautions that the data comes with uncertainty 
due to limits of accuracy in measurement and modelling methods. NRW’s website provides 
information on flood risk. The most recent published data is 2019.Pack Page 21

https://naturalresources.wales/flooding/managing-flood-risk/understanding-your-flood-risk-results?lang=en


page 11 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

1.3 The number of households at risk of flooding is based on the levels 
assessed as at risk at a point in time and will change. The State of UK 
Climate 2021 report9 describes higher average levels of rainfall and rising 
sea levels and says that sea levels are rising much faster than a century 
ago; an annual rise of between three and five millimetres. Rising sea 
levels and higher levels of rainfall resulting from climate change are likely 
to increase the chances of flooding occurring. The devastating storms 
of February 2020 were a stark example. 3,130 properties in Wales were 
known to be flooded10 and river levels reached unprecedented heights. 
NRW categorised the storms as a 1 in 200-year event in some areas of 
Wales which overwhelmed some defences11. The floods highlighted the 
possibility that severe storms could become increasingly common due to 
climate change.

Flooding can have a devastating impact on individuals, 
the economy and the environment

1.4  NRW reviews have set out the impact of recent flooding events. NRW’s 
review of the February 2020 storms put the cost of household damage 
alone at £81 million (in cash terms). Businesses, non-residential properties 
and infrastructure also suffered significant damage. Positively, NRW said 
19,000 properties benefitted from flood defences during the 2020 storms, 
representing £550 million avoided damages.

1.5 Besides physical harm, flooding puts huge pressure on the mental  
health of individuals long after their homes or businesses are flooded.  
Flooding can also cause irrevocable damage to habitats and ecosystems.  
For example, NRW found that the winter storms of 2013-14 damaged 37 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 10 Special Areas of Conservation12.

9 Kendon et al., State of the UK Climate 2021, International Journal of Climatology, The Royal 
Meteorological Society Journal of Climate Science, July 2022

10 Natural Resources Wales, February 2020 flood review (Storm Ciara and Dennis), October 
2020

11 River and main water course defences are typically built to withstand a 1 in 100-year flooding 
event (an event only likely to occur once in 100 years). Flooding categories are based on 
past data which is updated when new floods occur.

12 Natural Resources Wales, Wales Coastal Flooding Review Phase 1 Report – Assessment of 
Impacts, January 2014 Pack Page 22



page 12 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Roles and responsibilities are complex and may require 
legislative change

1.6 Legal responsibility for managing flood risk differs depending on the area 
of land at risk of flooding, or the source of the flood risk. In broad terms, the 
Welsh Government and NRW have system-wide roles to support flood risk 
management. The Welsh Government sets the national direction and allocates 
funding. NRW has national strategic oversight of all sources of flooding and 
coastal erosion and provides technical advice to other Risk Management 
Authorities (RMAs). Local authorities are designated Lead Local Flood 
Authorities. They manage flooding from ordinary watercourses, surface water 
and groundwater. The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) is not an 
RMA. Through its Welsh Government grant funded post (see footnote 24), the 
WLGA coordinates and supports local authorities in their functions and helps 
steer national initiatives. The Welsh Government, NRW, local authorities and 
water companies13 have discretionary powers for managing flood risk in different 
places as RMAs (Exhibit 3).

13 There are currently four water companies operating in Wales: Welsh Water, Hafren Dyfrdwy,  
Albion Eco and Leep Utilities. Pack Page 23



page 13 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 3: Risk Management Authority lead roles for flood risk management 
by location

Note: Some private landowners such as the National Trust are responsible for protecting their 
assets from flooding but are not RMAs.

Source: Audit Wales

Motorways and
major trunk roads
Welsh Government

Reservoirs
Reservoir owners
including NRW

Local highways
Local authorities

Ordinary water courses, 
surface and ground water
Local authorities

Sewage and 
water supply
Water companiesMain rivers

NRW

Sea
NRW and coastal
local authorities

Pack Page 24



page 14 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

1.7 Organisations with a role in managing flood risk come together in several 
forums in Wales. Exhibit 4 sets out membership and purpose of key flood 
risk management forums in Wales. There are other forums to manage the 
emergency response to flooding events which are not included here.

Exhibit 4: key flood risk management forums in Wales

Forum Purpose Membership
The Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk 
Programme Board

Oversees delivery of the 
Welsh Government’s 
capital programmes: 
the Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk Management 
Programme and Coastal 
Risk Management 
Programme

Members include 
representatives from the 
Welsh Government, NRW, 
the WLGA, local authorities, 
Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water, the 
Institution of Civil Engineers, 
and the Chair of the Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Committee.

The Flood and 
Coastal Erosion 
Committee

Provides advice to Welsh 
Ministers and RMAs on 
flood and coastal erosion 
risk management

Members are appointed 
by Welsh Ministers. The 
Committee includes 
representatives of NRW, 
the WLGA, local authorities, 
agriculture, the water industry, 
academia and relevant 
professional bodies.

Regional Flood 
Groups: North, 
Southeast, and 
Southwest Wales

Share knowledge and 
information about flood 
risk and develop joint 
programmes of work

Membership includes local 
authorities, NRW, water 
companies and the WLGA.

Coastal Groups: West 
of Wales, Liverpool 
Bay, Severn Estuary, 
and Swansea and 
Carmarthen Bay

Lead on producing and 
implementing Shoreline 
Management Plans

Coastal local authorities, 
NRW, the Welsh Government 
and other bodies with coastal 
responsibilities.

Wales Coastal Group 
Forum

Represents the collective 
interests of the Coastal 
Groups

Chairs of each Coastal Group 
plus representatives from 
NRW, the WLGA, Network Rail 
and the National Trust.

Source: Audit Wales

Pack Page 25



page 15 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

1.8 Different pieces of legislation set out powers and duties relating to the 
management of flooding and coastal erosion14. The Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 clarified some powers and responsibilities.  
In response to a recommendation in our 2016 report (see footnote 1) on 
clarifying roles and responsibilities, the Welsh Government tasked the 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee with reviewing current legislation. 
The Committee finalised its review in September 2022 and submitted 
proposals to Welsh Ministers.

1.9 The Law Commission15 is also considering whether to review statutory 
responsibilities for flood and coastal erosion risk management in England 
and Wales. 

14 The main pieces of legislation relating to flood risk management in Wales are the European 
Union Floods Directive 2007 – which forms part of UK law, Flood Risk Regulations 2009, 
the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, Water Resources Act 1991, Land Drainage Act 
1991, and the Coastal Protection Act 1949.

15 The Law Commission is the statutory independent body created to keep the law of England 
and Wales under review and recommend reform where needed.Pack Page 26



02

Flood risk 
management: strategy 

Pack Page 27



page 17 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

The Welsh Government’s Programme for Government 
commits to improving flood protection

2.1 In its June 2021 Programme for Government16, the Welsh Government 
stated it would embed its response to climate change and nature 
emergency in everything it does and made specific commitments to flood 
risk management:
• to fund additional flood protection for at least 45,000 homes; and
• deliver nature-based flood risk management (see Exhibit 6) in all major 

river catchments to expand wetland and woodland habitats.

2.2 The Welsh Government updated its Programme for Government in 
December 202117 to reflect its cooperation agreement18 with Plaid Cymru. 
The agreement committed to more investment in flood risk management to 
respond to the increased risk. The updated programme included two new 
commitments to:
•  commission an independent review of the local government section 19 

and NRW reports19 into winter floods; and
•  ask the National Infrastructure Commission for Wales to assess 

how the nationwide likelihood of flooding of homes, businesses and 
infrastructure can be minimised by 2050.

The Welsh Government’s National Strategy sets 
national objectives for flood risk management and 
highlights challenges facing the sector

2.3 The Welsh Government’s 2020 National Strategy aims to reduce the risks 
to people and communities from flooding and coastal erosion underpinned 
by five objectives (Exhibit 5). The Strategy highlights tough questions 
facing flood risk management. Not all flooding can be prevented, and the 
Strategy emphasises the need for approaches to help communities adapt 
and become more resilient to severe weather events and rising sea levels. 

16 Welsh Government, Programme for Government, June 2021
17 Welsh Government, Programme for Government – Update, December 2021
18 Welsh Government, The Cooperation Agreement, 2021
19 Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 requires local authorities in Wales 

to investigate serious flooding events and publish the results. NRW also undertakes its own 
reviews into serious flooding. Pack Page 28



page 18 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 5: Welsh Government National Strategy aims and objectives for flood 
and coastal erosion risk management

Reduce the risk to people and communities from flooding and coastal 
erosion

Improved understanding and communication of risk

Preparedness and building resilience

Prioritising investment to the most at risk communities

Preventing more people becoming exposed to risk

Providing an effective and sustained response to events

Source: Objectives set out in the 2020 Welsh Government National Strategy for Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management in Wales

2.4 The Strategy recognises that building ever higher flood walls is not always 
sustainable and does not remove all risk. Even high walls can breach and 
there is a greater risk of rapid and severe flooding when they do. It can be 
detrimental to wildlife and the appearance of landscapes and communities. 
There is also a risk that building higher walls to protect one community 
will push flood water on to other communities. The Strategy builds on 
the previous national strategy by emphasising different approaches to 
flood risk management. In particular, the 2020 Strategy describes the 
importance of building community preparedness and resilience to flooding, 
using natural flood management and adapting to climate change  
(Exhibit 6).

 

Pack Page 29



page 19 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 6: key concepts in the National Strategy

Building community preparedness and resilience
Raising awareness and preparing communities to respond to flooding 
can reduce the impact on property and individuals. Preparedness can 
include talking to communities about flood risk and promoting flooding 
warning systems. It can also include advising people of individual 
measures they can take to protect their home such as installing flood 
doors. An important part of building community resilience is working with 
them to understand the risks in their area and develop ways to prepare 
for, and adapt to, those risks.

Natural flood management or ‘nature based solutions’
Natural approaches can reduce water flows in flood risk areas. 
Approaches can include tree planting, offline storage areas which return 
water to rivers after floods have passed, and creating wetlands. Natural 
approaches can be especially effective when they are developed around 
whole river catchments, but may not work in isolation or during extreme 
flood events. Integrated ‘Green Grey’ infrastructure can have a positive 
impact on the environment and increase biodiversity. Green Grey 
approaches combine natural materials with traditional ‘hard engineered’ 
flood defences such as concrete walls.

Adapting to climate change
Not all flooding can be prevented. The risks can be reduced but 
communities and infrastructure need to adapt and be prepared for 
severe weather events. Adaptation involves maintaining and improving 
defences but also better land management and planning in towns and 
cities to manage the impact of flooding and move ‘out of harm’s way’.

Source: Audit Wales summary based on the 2020 Welsh Government National Strategy for 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management in Wales

Pack Page 30



page 20 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

2.5  The Strategy emphasises that investment in flood risk management must 
be maintained. But it recognises the need to adapt to the increasing risks 
associated with climate change which may demand difficult decisions 
about where to direct investment. 

2.6 The Strategy encourages regional and partnership working to improve the 
effectiveness of flood risk management and to secure alternative funding. 
In response to the Senedd Public Accounts Committee (see footnote 2) 
recommendation on regional working in 2017, the Welsh Government 
tasked the WLGA with exploring options for regional working with local 
authorities. The WLGA completed its review in July 2018, but the Welsh 
Government and local authorities have not yet set out specific actions to 
develop mechanisms and guidance for joint delivery in practice. The Flood 
and Coastal Erosion Committee’s review of resources found that more 
could be done to improve regional working and collaboration and made 
proposals to address these issues. 

2.7 The Senedd Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee’s 
2020 report (see footnote 4) recommended that the [then] Minister for 
Environment, Energy and Rural Affairs should set out her view on how well 
the National Strategy is operating and whether changes need to be made 
to the national approach. The Minister accepted the recommendation 
explaining that any changes to the national approach would be informed 
by NRW’s commentary on the implementation of the Strategy via its 
section 18 report (see paragraph 5.3). NRW’s report was due in autumn 
2022 but has been postponed until autumn 2023 due to workforce 
pressures.

Pack Page 31



page 21 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

The National Strategy is underpinned by other 
strategies and plans

2.8 The overall strategic planning framework for flood risk management 
includes several strategies and plans at different levels, flowing in part 
from requirements set out in legislation. Exhibit 7 provides an overview.

Exhibit 7: strategic planning framework for flood risk management

Welsh Government National Strategy October 2020

Who?

Local authorities

NRW

Local authorities 
(working with NRW 

and other RMAs)

Local Flood Risk 
Management 

Strategies

Every two years 
a�er publication of 

national strategy

Living documents 
that can be 

refreshed any time

Flood Risk 
Management Plan

Flood Risk 
Management Plans Every six years

Every six years

What? When?

Coastal groups
Shoreline 

Management Plans

Note: The WLGA and Welsh Government are working with local authorities to combine Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategies and Flood Risk Management Plans into one document.

Source: Audit Wales summary

Pack Page 32



page 22 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

2.9 Local authorities must produce their own statutory Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategies20 that reflect the National Strategy. Local 
authorities also work with NRW and other RMAs to produce Flood Risk 
Management Plans for surface water and ordinary watercourses21. NRW 
also produces its own Flood Risk Management Plans for main rivers and 
the sea. The local authority and NRW Flood Risk Management Plans are 
produced every six years, while the latest Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategies were due to be published two years after the National Strategy, 
in October 2022. However, they have been delayed as the WLGA and 
the Welsh Government are developing proposals to combine the local 
authority strategies and plans in one comprehensive local flood risk 
management document. Individual plans are underpinned by collaborative 
activities such as flood mapping and learning from previous approaches.

2.10 The Welsh Government also expects Coastal Groups to produce Shoreline 
Management Plans. The plans are non-statutory assessments of the risks 
associated with coastal flooding and erosion. The plans aim to identify the 
most sustainable policies for each area over the next 100 years using four 
policy options:
• maintaining or improving existing defences in their current position 

(known as hold the line);
• building new defences on the seaward side of the existing defence 

(known as advance the line);
•  allowing the shoreline to move backward through ‘managed 

realignment’ or ‘managed retreat’, which may mean relocating some 
communities; and

•  do nothing (known as no active intervention).

2.11 NRW has recently produced supplementary guidance22 to assist Coastal 
Groups in ‘refreshing’ their existing plans to focus more on medium and 
longer-term policy approaches.

20 A requirement of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010
21 The plans are a requirement of the Flood Risk Regulations 2009 whereby countries identify 

Flood Risk Areas, map improvement activities, and develop Flood Risk Management 
Plans. Six local authorities in Wales are required to produce the plans because Flood Risk 
Areas have been identified in their area (Swansea Council, Neath Port Talbot Council, 
Monmouthshire County Council, and Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf, and Wrexham 
County Borough Councils). However, the remaining 16 local authorities have also agreed to 
produce the plans on a voluntary basis.

22 Natural Resources Wales, Shoreline Management Plans: Supplementary guidance for their 
ongoing maintenance and delivery – Wales, December 2021Pack Page 33



Flood risk 
management: finances 

03 Pack Page 34



page 24 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Real terms funding for flood risk management has been 
broadly stable between 2016-17 and 2020-21 and the 
Welsh Government is planning a substantial increase by 
2024-25

3.1 This section looks at public spending and funding for flood risk 
management. It is based on the funding provided by the Welsh 
Government, most of which goes to NRW and local authorities. For NRW 
and local authorities, it covers the use of Welsh Government funding 
provided specifically for flood risk management. It does not include 
spending on flood risk management from other local authority budgets.

The Welsh Government

3.2  The Welsh Government’s funding for flood risk management includes 
capital and revenue. Historically, capital has largely been used for building 
new flood defences or large-scale improvements to existing defences. 
Revenue mostly funded staff and running costs as well as regular 
maintenance work. However, the Welsh Government is now also using 
revenue to help local authorities to invest in coastal infrastructure projects. 

3.3  From 2016-17 to 2020-21, the Welsh Government’s real terms annual 
funding of flood risk management was between £53.1 million and £57.9 
million (Exhibit 8). Revenue funding varied between £23.9 million and 
£28.8 million. Capital funding varied between £26.6 million and £33.6 
million. The increase in capital funding in 2021-22, to £33.0 million, was 
largely because the Welsh Government provided additional money to 
repair damage after flooding in December 2020 and January 2021.

Pack Page 35



page 25 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 8: Welsh Government funding of flooding and coastal erosion in real 
terms, 2016-17 to 2021-22 including budgets to 2024-25 (2022-23 prices)

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Capital

£ millions

Revenue

2016-17 to 2021-22 is funding 2022-23 onwards
is budget

Total

Note: Real terms figures are adjusted to take account of inflation. We used HM Treasury GDP 
deflators at market prices and money for 2022-23, September 2022.

Source: Audit Wales analysis of Welsh Government data

3.4 The Welsh Government’s budget shows an increase in total real terms 
funding on flood risk management. It is set to rise from £59.6 million in 
2021-22 to £88.7 million (48.7%) in 2024-25. The underlying picture is 
complicated. Capital funding is set to rise in 2022-23 but then fall in  
2023-24 and 2024-25. The substantial increase in revenue is partly 
driven by repayments as part of Coastal Risk Management Programme 
(Exhibit 9). However, after accounting for likely repayments, there is still a 
substantial increase in revenue funding in 2023-24 and 2024-25.

Pack Page 36



page 26 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 9: the Welsh Government’s Coastal Risk Management Programme 

The Welsh Government set up the Coastal Risk Management Programme 
in 2016-17. It initially planned to fund £150 million (in cash terms) on 
coastal flood defences but the final level of investment may amount to 
more once all local authority schemes have been finalised and actual 
costs approved. 

Under the programme, the Welsh Government provides the local authority 
with 100% of the costs of developing a project, through a capital grant. 
The Welsh Government has agreed to fund 85% of construction costs 
via annual increases in local authorities’ Revenue Support Grant over 25 
years. To pay for the actual works, local authorities can use their capital 
reserves or borrow money from the Public Works Loan Board, a part of 
HM Treasury, at low interest rates. The local authority pays back the loan 
over 25 years. 

The Welsh Government intended that the programme would close to 
new projects in 2021, but due to delays in the design and development of 
capital projects it extended the deadline to March 2023.

To date the Welsh Government has agreed to fund schemes with an 
estimated value of £98 million through the programme.  

Source: Audit Wales summary

3.5 The Welsh Government provides the majority of its capital funding to 
local authorities and NRW via its separate Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management Programme. In 2021-22, the Welsh Government spent 
£33 million at 2022-23 prices through the Programme. The Programme 
funds local authority schemes, including partnerships with other RMAs, 
and NRW schemes. The Welsh Government provides 100% of funding 
for NRW schemes under its core programme and for the design and 
development stages of local authority schemes. It provides 85% of 
funding for the construction work for local authority schemes. The Welsh 
Government has produced a map23 showing schemes allocated funding at 
the start of the financial year. The level of expenditure each year depends 
on the preparedness and progress of projects in local authority and NRW 
pipelines.

23 Welsh Government, Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Programme 2022-23Pack Page 37

https://gov.wales/flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-programme-2022-2023


page 27 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

3.6 In 2020-21, over three-quarters (£22.2 million) of the Welsh Government’s 
£28.8 million revenue funding (at 2022-23 prices) went to NRW. The Welsh 
Government provided local government with £4.5 million revenue. It spent 
£0.4 million on its own flood risk management branch24. The proportion of 
revenue going to local government will increase in future years as a result 
of work being funded through the Coastal Risk Management Programme.

Natural Resources Wales

3.7  The Welsh Government provides NRW with revenue funding through its 
Flood Defence Grant. In real terms, NRW revenue spending on flood risk 
management decreased from £23.6 million in 2016-17 to £20.9 million 
in 2021-22. The Welsh Government and NRW are currently carrying out 
a baseline review of NRW’s resources to deliver flood risk management 
priorities.

3.8  NRW’s capital spending varies year-on-year depending on the number 
and type of capital projects it is working on in any given year and what 
stage each project is at. From 2016-17 to 2018-19 NRW’s capital spending 
ranged between £17.0 million and £21.9 million at 2022-23 prices. Real 
terms spending fell sharply in 2018-19 when NRW underspent its capital 
budget by around £5 million. The £5 million was rolled-over into 2019-20 
but capital spending remained lower than previous years due to NRW 
having a smaller programme of capital works. Real terms capital spending 
has increased since 2019-20 and is set to be slightly higher in 2022-23 
than in 2017-18. The Welsh Government’s total capital and revenue 
budget allocation to NRW in 2022-23 is £46.0 million (Exhibit 10).

24 Funding to the Welsh Government’s flood risk management branch includes funding for the 
Flood and Water Officer at the WLGA and some consultancy fees.Pack Page 38



page 28 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 10: NRW spending on flooding and coastal erosion in real terms,  
2016-17 to 2021-22 including the 2022-23 budget (2022-23 prices)

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

50

40

30

20

10

0

£ millions

2016-17 to 2021-22 is spending 2022-23 
is budget

Capital Revenue Total

Notes: 

1  Real terms figures are adjusted to take account of inflation. We used HM Treasury GDP 
deflators at market prices and money for 2022-23, September 2022.

2  Information on budget allocations beyond 2022-23 is not yet available.

Source: Audit Wales analysis of Welsh Government data

3.9  NRW’s Flood Risk Management Annual Report 2020-2125 breaks down 
its spending on flood risk management in cash terms, explaining that it 
spent 35% of its £21 million revenue on managing its flood risk assets 
or defences, and 25% on corporate support services. Forecasting and 
issuing flood warnings accounted for 11% and 9% went on responding to 
incidents. NRW spent 47% of its £13.5 million capital on flood defences, 
with 26% spent on maintaining existing defences and 21% on building new 
ones. 27% was spend on core activities and 23% of spending went on 
flood risk management ICT projects (Exhibit 11).

25 NRW publishes a breakdown of how it spends its capital and revenue spending in its flood 
risk management annual reports. At the time of writing, it was still finalising its 2021-22 report 
but told us spending per category was unlikely to change substantially from the previous 
year. Pack Page 39



page 29 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 11: NRW spending on flood risk management in 2020-21 in cash terms

Total revenue
spending

£21 million

Maintaining 
existing 

defences
£7.3m

Corporate 
support 
services
£5.2m

Forecasting 
and flood 
warnings 

£2.2m
Incident 

response
£1.8m

ICT/Service 
provision

£1.5m

Understanding 
flood risk

£1.1m

Strategic planning 
£0.58m

Advising planners, 
consenting and 

enforcement
£0.54m

Community engagement 
and resilience

£0.23m

Reservoir regulation 
and enforcement

£0.19m

Hydrometry and 
telemetry

£0.17m

Pack Page 40



page 30 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Total capital
spending 

£13.5 million

Core activities
£3.6m

Capital 
maintenance

£3.4m

ICT 
development 

projects
£3.1m

New
defences

£2.8m

Mapping and 
modelling

£0.33m

Notes: 

1  Core activities include capitalised salary costs, corporate overheads and fleet, plant, and 
equipment purchase.

2  NRW delivers hydrometry and telemetry services which collect, analyse and report data on 
things like water flows and rainfall to support the flood warning service and provide online 
information to the public and partners.

3  The figures above are in cash terms, which means they have not been adjusted to take 
account of inflation. The overall spending figures for capital and revenue therefore differ 
slightly from those in Exhibit 10 which have been adjusted for inflation.

Source: NRW, Flood Risk Management Annual Report 2020-21, December 2021

Pack Page 41



page 31 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Local authorities

3.10  The main source of Welsh Government revenue funding to local 
authorities is its core Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Revenue Grant. Currently each local authority can bid for an equal share 
of the Grant each year. In 2020, the Senedd Climate Change, Environment 
and Rural Affairs Committee recommended that the Welsh Government 
review its revenue allocation formula for flood risk management (see 
footnote 4). In its response to the Committee’s recommendation, the 
Welsh Government consulted local authorities and increased the amount 
of baseline grant funding available from £65,000 in 2018-19 to £225,000 
per local authority for 2022-23 as a result. Developing a risk-based 
formula is complicated and requires robust information about the level of 
flood risk in each local authority area. The Welsh Government is waiting 
for improvements to local data before revisiting the idea of a risk-based 
allocation in the future.  

3.11 Local authorities can choose to add to the revenue funding from their 
general funds. However, there is no data available on total local authority 
spending on flood risk management, including discretionary spend, so we 
have not been able to include it in our analysis. Without such data there is 
no comprehensive picture of investment across Wales.

3.12  In real terms, core Welsh Government revenue funding across all local 
authorities fell from £2.9 million in 2016-17 to £1.8 million in 2019-20 
(Exhibit 12). Revenue funding more than doubled to £4.5 million in  
2020-21 when the Welsh Government allocated extra funding as a result 
of underspends from the Coastal Risk Management Programme. After a 
fall in 2021-22 to £3.9 million, revenue funding is set to rise to £5.3 million 
in 2022-23.

3.13 In real terms, local authority core capital funding increased from  
£8.7 million in 2016-17 to £11.1 million in the following year. Capital 
funding stayed around £11 million each year up until 2021-22 with the 
exception of a drop in 2020-21 where funding was below £10 million.  
It is set to fall to £10.1 million in 2022-23. The Welsh Government’s 
Coastal Risk Management Programme (Exhibit 9) is adding substantially 
to funding for infrastructure projects. As a result, total Welsh Government 
funding for local government is set to rise from £13.9 million in 2016-17 to  
£26.7 million in 2022-23.

Pack Page 42



page 32 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 12: Welsh Government flood and coastal erosion funding to local 
authorities in real terms, 2016-17 to 2021-22 including the 2022-23 budget 
(2022-23 prices)

CRMP (capital and revenue)

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

£ millions

2016-17 to 2021-22 is funding 2022-23
is budget

Capital Revenue Total

Notes:

1  The chart does not include local authority funding of flood risk management from other 
sources including their contribution to infrastructure schemes. Sometimes, part of the  
contribution is provided by other beneficiary partner organisations but generally it is the local 
authorities who contribute.

2  Real terms figures are adjusted to take account of inflation. We used HM Treasury GDP 
deflators at market prices and money for 2022-23, September 2022.

3  Information on budget allocations beyond 2022-23 is not yet available.

Source: Audit Wales analysis of Welsh Government data

Pack Page 43



page 33 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Significant long-term investment is likely to be needed 
to tackle the increasing risks associated with climate 
change while inflation will put pressure on existing 
budgets

3.14  The Wales Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee’s review of resources 
(see footnote 5) said that capital funding needs to increase to tackle 
the impact of climate change. NRW is modelling potential long-term 
investment requirements associated with maintaining existing coastal and 
inland flood assets over the next 100 years. NRW presented a draft report 
on its findings to the Welsh Government and the Committee in September 
2022 and is working with the Welsh Government to agree a publication 
date for the final report. The final report will likely point to the need for a 
significant increase in spending to keep pace with climate change.  
The draft report suggests there may be parts of Wales where the costs of 
maintaining flood defences could outweigh the benefits.

3.15  The Committee’s review of resources highlights the need for longer term 
capital funding settlements to improve planning and collaboration on 
capital projects. It also calls for longer term revenue settlements to support 
a longer term approach to the maintenance of flood defences and other 
revenue funded work26. Our report on the 21st Century School building 
programme27 described the transformative nature of long-term funding on 
large scale investment programmes.

3.16 Construction prices have increased considerably in recent years – and 
by 10% from June 2021 to June 202228. However, the WLGA believes 
the increase to be much higher because some RMAs have reported 
substantially higher costs. Some recent market analysis has forecast 
that infrastructure construction inflation could reach 12%29. The analysis 
suggests that in the medium term, inflation in the construction sector could 
stay at around 3% to 5% even if inflation in the wider economy returns to 
more ‘normal’ levels of 2% to 3%. Capital budgets in particular therefore 
look set to be squeezed in the coming years with increasing building and 
maintenance costs.

26 Many important flood risk management activities are revenue funded including mapping and 
modelling and flood warning systems.

27 See Auditor General for Wales, The 21st Century Schools and Education Programme, May 
2017 which describes the Welsh Government’s long-term commitment to the school building 
programme over at least two ‘bands’ each covering five years. 

28 Office for National Statistics, Construction Output Price Indices, Quarter 2, August 2022
29 Arcadis, UK Autumn Market View: September 2022Pack Page 44



page 34 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Public bodies are struggling to secure funding 
from other sources, including developers and the 
beneficiaries of flood risk management schemes

3.17  In response to our 2016 recommendation (see footnote 1) about 
investigating options for partnership funding, the Welsh Government 
tasked the Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee with exploring ways 
to maximise partner contributions and investment. The Committee’s 
review of resources described a lack of strategic focus on exploring wider 
mechanisms for funding and limited staff capacity to secure alternative 
investment. It also cites examples where the Welsh Government could 
better align policy and funding streams to maximise financial contributions 
from partners such as Welsh Water, Network Rail, and in forestry and 
agriculture.

3.18  The Committee said that opportunities to secure funding from elsewhere 
are largely being missed. Many organisations and individual property 
owners benefit from flood risk management schemes, but few contribute 
financially to those schemes. In particular, there are opportunities to 
secure funding for flood risk management from land developers. 

3.19  The Welsh Government’s national development framework: Future 
Wales30 recognises that parts of National Growth Areas31 are susceptible 
to flooding. Some re-development may be permitted in National Growth 
Areas subject to appropriate mitigation against flood risk. Planning 
authorities may require developers to bear the costs of developing new 
or improving existing flood defences. The Committee’s report recognised 
that planning authorities could do more to secure funding from developers 
but found that workforce capacity in planning authorities limits their ability 
to do so. Paragraphs 5.18 to 5.21 consider building development in more 
detail. There may also be opportunities to secure funding from the UK 
Government Shared Prosperity Fund, for example.

30 Welsh Government, Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, August 2019
31 Future Wales identifies Cardiff, Newport and the Valleys; Swansea Bay and Llanelli; and 

Wrexham and Deeside as National Growth Areas where there will be growth in employment 
and housing and investment in infrastructure. Pack Page 45



Flood risk 
management: capacity

04 Pack Page 46



page 36 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

In the short term, workforce capacity is the biggest 
issue facing the flooding sector

4.1 The public sector flooding workforce32 in Wales is spread across Welsh 
Government, local government and NRW:
•  there are 12 staff in the Welsh Government’s flood risk management 

branch, most of whom work full-time.
•  local authorities typically employ one or more full time equivalent 

(FTE) flood risk management officers as part of their wider drainage 
or highways teams. However, some have been unable to recruit any 
flooding officers adding more pressure on existing teams. Other local 
authority staff not directly employed as flooding officers will also be 
involved in flooding related work if the need arises.

•  NRW employs 350 FTEs in flood risk management across Wales, 
including work on national functions such as mapping and modelling 
flood risk, the flood warning service, and development advice.

4.2  Flood risk management is a specialist area which requires broad skills 
which are hard to find. NRW and local authorities find it difficult to recruit 
professionals with the right technical skills to manage flood risk and 
have struggled to recruit to some roles. In one case, we are aware of a 
local authority that was unable to submit funding applications for flood 
risk management schemes and revenue funding because of an unfilled 
vacancy.

4.3  NRW and some local authorities have commissioned support from the 
private sector. However, we heard that even some parts of the private 
sector are struggling to recruit skilled flooding professionals. The flooding 
sector is also suffering from a lack of succession planning to ensure a 
suitable pipeline of appropriately qualified people for the future.

4.4  The Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee’s review of resources (see 
footnote 5) explained the consequences of insufficient workforce capacity 
including:
•  lack of sufficient and meaningful engagement with communities;
•  lack of time for RMAs to collaborate effectively with each other and 

other sectors;

32 Flooding staff at the water companies are not included in our analysis because they are not 
directly funded by the Welsh Government. Pack Page 47



page 37 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

•  slow progress developing the evidence base on the benefits of nature-
based solutions, catchment-based approaches and how to adapt 
approaches to respond to climate change; and

•  lack of innovation and partnership working to create wider social and 
economic benefits and secure additional external funding for flood risk 
management schemes. 

4.5  NRW also told us that insufficient workforce capacity is impacting on 
aspects of its core work, including its assessment of the condition of flood 
defence assets, flood warning work and planning advice.

4.6  The flooding sector in Wales understands its weaknesses but lacks the 
human resources to address them. The Committee’s review proposes 
the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Programme Board (see Exhibit 4) 
directs a resource improvement programme to establish current and future 
workforce requirements and address training and career development 
needs. Universities and professional training institutions have expressed 
interest in working with the flooding sector to address skills gaps but 
developing the next generation of flood risk management professionals will 
take time. Developing and delivering any such improvement programme 
will either require additional staff capacity or draw from existing capacity 
which is already stretched.

Pack Page 48



Flood risk 
management: 
performance 
and delivery

05 Pack Page 49



page 39 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

5.1 This section looks at performance from two angles. Firstly – we look at 
reviews of progress delivering the actions the public bodies set out in their 
strategies and plans. Secondly, we consider information on what difference 
the investment and efforts to manage flood risk is making.

Information on progress implementing shoreline 
management plans and local flood risk strategies and 
plans is not easily accessible to the public 

5.2  Progress implementing strategies and plans to manage flood risk is 
reported in different ways and sits in several different documents. NRW’s 
State of Natural Resources Reports on the sustainable management of 
natural resources give some broad insight on flood risk management 
performance. The reports are a requirement of the Environment (Wales) 
Act 2016 and must be updated by the end of the calendar year preceding 
every Senedd election. They comment on the extent to which natural 
resources are being managed sustainably. In 2020, the latest report33 
concluded that Wales is not yet meeting its aim to have healthy places for 
people, protected from environmental risks, due in part to the number of 
properties at risk of flooding.

5.3  NRW reports on collective progress implementing the National Strategy in 
Section 18 reports34 every two years after publication of the Strategy. The 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee reviews the reports. Publication 
of the first report on the current National Strategy has been delayed from 
autumn 2022 to autumn 2023 (see paragraph 2.7).

5.4  Coastal Groups report progress implementing the Shoreline Management 
Plans annually to the Wales Coastal Group Forum. In 2020-21, the 
Coastal Groups revised their plans to reduce and prioritise activities to 
make delivery more manageable. Currently, there is no public information 
to show progress implementing the plans. By 2025, the Coastal Groups 
are due to set out their plans to implement the next 20 years of the 
Shoreline Management Plans.

33 Natural Resources Wales, State of Natural Resources Report for Wales 2020, December 
2020

34 Section 18 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 sets reporting requirements.Pack Page 50



page 40 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

5.5  Currently, there is no consistent approach to monitoring and reporting 
local authorities’ progress delivering Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategies or management plans. Each authority decides the method 
and frequency with which it reviews performance. There are no national 
indicators to measure and compare how well flood risk is being managed 
locally. However, the Welsh Government and the WLGA are working with 
local authorities to develop a template for monitoring flood risk objectives, 
measures and action plans across Wales in a consistent format. 

Gaps in collective leadership and policy integration are 
hampering delivery

5.6  In 2020, NRW published a section 18 report35 on progress implementing 
the previous national strategy. The report described challenges engaging 
with communities and implementing nature-based solutions (see 
Exhibit 6). The new 2020 National Strategy reinforced the importance 
of community resilience but two years on, little progress has been made. 
Later that year, the Senedd Climate Change, Environment and Rural 
Affairs Committee’s inquiry (see footnote 4) recommended that the Welsh 
Government set out how it will support local authorities and NRW to 
engage effectively with communities. The Welsh Government’s response 
to the Committee explained arrangements at the time. But it did not say 
who would lead efforts to address the capacity and capability issues that 
are widely known to hamper community engagement. 

5.7 The Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee’s 2022 review of resources 
says the flooding sector is still not good at involving the public in flood risk 
management. In the Committee’s view, public bodies are not doing enough 
to prepare the public for flooding nor for the impact of long-term decisions 
about managed realignment. The general public will increasingly be 
required to adapt and develop resilience to the impacts of climate change, 
particularly communities at high risk of flooding. There has also been 
slow progress in other areas of work including workforce resilience and 
succession planning and regional collaboration. 

5.8  Lack of joined up policy and funding arrangements is restricting RMAs’ 
collaboration with each other, with other public services, and with the 
private sector. The Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee identified 
agriculture and planning policy as key areas to integrate with flood risk 
management. There are many more opportunities to join up policy with 
flood risk management to achieve wider benefits such as economic 
development, recreation, and improved biodiversity. The Committee 
described collaboration as ad hoc, and said the sector lacks clear 
expectations of what collaboration should deliver. 

35 Natural Resources Wales, Flood Risk Management in Wales 2016-19 – Report to the 
Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Energy and Rural Affairs under Section 18 of the Flood 
and Water Management Act 2010, June 2020 Pack Page 51



page 41 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

5.9 We think there is a gap in governance structures because there is no 
forum for senior leaders to discuss and elevate the profile of flood risk 
management across public services. Flooding can present a serious 
threat to public services including schools and healthcare facilities. But 
we heard from key stakeholders in the flooding sector that it is too often 
seen as an issue for flooding departments to manage alone. Stakeholders 
also said that varying levels of senior ownership of flood risk management 
across RMAs mean that it is a lower priority in some places. The Flood 
and Coastal Erosion Committee’s report also describes a lack of regular 
engagement between senior leaders in RMAs.

5.10 A review published by the Environment Agency England as part of the 
joint England and Wales research programme36 found that the Regional 
Flood Groups in Wales lack strategic direction and influence over wider 
regional decisions such as economic development. The review found that 
membership lacked seniority and existing members were often unable to 
make corporate commitments. We found that the same issue extends to 
other flood risk management forums (see Exhibit 4). 

Understanding the impact of flood risk management 
activity on levels of risk is difficult

5.11  NRW models the number of properties at high, medium and low risk of 
flooding and has a commitment in the National Strategy to update flood 
maps every six months. The risk categories are based on the likelihood 
of flooding occurring. They do not reflect the consequences or impact 
of flooding if it happens. To provide a fuller picture when prioritising its 
resources, NRW uses its Communities at Risk Register to consider the 
potential consequences of flooding. 

5.12 In the future, the Welsh Government wants to use information on the 
number of properties at risk of flooding to monitor the reduction in risk over 
time because of its investment. Measuring impact by monitoring changes 
in risk does not necessarily indicate how well those risks are being 
managed. Firstly, the baseline picture of risk across Wales is incomplete. 
The picture of risk has improved in recent years, particularly through 
NRW’s Wales Flood Map37 which sets out the likelihood of flooding from 
the sea, rivers, surface water and small watercourses. However, there are 
gaps in data from some local authorities.

36 Environment Agency England, Evaluating the Effectiveness of Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Governance in England and Wales, November 2021

37 A collective term to describe the Flood Risk Assessment Wales Map, National Coastal 
Erosion Risk Management Map and Flood Map for Planning which are maintained by NRW.Pack Page 52



page 42 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

5.13 Secondly, the risks keep changing. Changes in one part of a river 
catchment area, such as building development or new flood defences,  
can displace flood risk. Climate change is also changing the risks.  
The Wales Flood Map now includes a planning map which uses climate 
change projections to model future flood risks over the next century.  
As a result, the map showed significant increases in the size of high-risk 
flood zones including in some town and city centres. Flood maps give an 
indication of increased risk but cannot predict exactly where and when 
flooding will occur, or how bad it will be.

The overall picture of the condition of flood defences is 
not clear

5.14 Different organisations and landowners are responsible for maintaining 
the network of flood defence structures across Wales. The location and 
ownership of flood risk assets is set out in the National Flood Asset 
Database, which NRW has volunteered to manage on behalf of the RMAs 
in Wales. The database does not include privately owned assets. In 
addition, some infrastructure such as roads and railway lines provide some 
level of protection from floods but are not designed or recognised as flood 
defences. Such assets are not included in the Database38.

5.15 The level of protection provided by flood defences or ‘assets’ depends 
on their condition and fitness for purpose. Weaknesses in one asset may 
compromise the effectiveness of other flood defences. RMAs assess 
the condition of their assets. For instance, NRW prioritises tracking the 
condition of its high-risk assets on a continuous basis. A snapshot at the 
end of March 2022 highlighted that 98% of NRW’s high-risk assets were 
within target condition. 

5.16 Currently, there is no single source of information on the condition of 
Wales’s flood defences. The National Strategy sets the ambition that the 
National Flood Asset Database will include information on the condition 
of defences to act as a single source of information on flood defences 
owned by RMAs. NRW plans to start including some information on the 
condition of defences from other RMAs from November 2022. Developing 
the Database is complicated and relies on RMAs providing timely access 
to robust information.

38 The National Asset Database is intended as a source of information on larger, strategic 
assets and does not include every single flood risk management asset such as manholes.Pack Page 53



page 43 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

5.17 Another source of information on the condition and performance of flood 
defences is the reviews of serious floods39. The reviews give an indication 
of how well defences have performed in affected areas, where they may 
have been breached, and possible reasons why. 

Building development in high flood risk areas could 
be exposing properties to avoidable risk but a lack of 
current national data makes it difficult to know

5.18  Not all flooding can be prevented, but there are obvious opportunities to 
prevent avoidable risks by restricting development and re-development in 
areas at risk of flooding. Welsh Government data40 shows that the number 
of planning consents for developments in high-risk flood areas increased 
dramatically from fewer than 50 in 2015-16 to over 3,000 in 2016-17. 
Although the number of consents had reduced to just over 1,600 in  
2018-19, this was still significantly higher than the 2015-16 figure. Some 
local authorities did not supply data to the Welsh Government during  
2015-16 to 2018-19 so the number of consents may in fact be higher.  
The Welsh Government suspended some data collection during the 
pandemic. As a result, since 2018-19, there is no up-to-date national data, 
which makes it difficult to gauge current levels of development and risk.

5.19  To restrict development in high flood risk areas, the Welsh Government 
planned to implement a revision of Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15 
in November 2021. TAN 15 requires planning authorities to consider 
the impact of climate change on their decisions. However, the Welsh 
Government has delayed the implementation of TAN 15 until June 2023 
to allow planning authorities more time to prepare their approach. In the 
meantime, this means that planning consents could be being granted 
without due consideration given to the impact of climate change. However, 
despite the delay in TAN 15 being implemented, we would expect local 
authorities to be balancing short and long term considerations and taking 
into account climate change projections as part of their duty in discharging 
the sustainable development principle under the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) 2015. 

39 Known as ‘section 19 reports’ reflecting the requirement for lead local flood authorities to 
investigate flooding events under section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 
There is no duty to publish the reports. NRW reports on its own investigations of significant 
flooding events and publishes the information on its website.

40 From the Welsh Government’s Planning Services Annual Reports, non-residential and 
residential consents. Pack Page 54



page 44 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

5.20  The Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee’s review of resources suggests 
that lack of resources in local planning authorities is restricting their ability 
to prevent development in high flood risk areas. Also, the Committee found 
that it is hindering local planning authorities’ ability to ensure appropriate 
flood risk measures are included where development takes place.  
As noted in paragraph 4.5, NRW told us that staffing constraints have 
also affected the way it responds to planning authorities as a statutory 
consultee because it has had to limit the extent of its planning advice.

5.21  Lack of capacity in the planning workforce is also affecting local authorities’ 
ability to monitor and ensure all construction works in Wales with drainage 
implications have Sustainable Drainage Systems41. The WLGA has voiced 
concern that lack of expertise and capacity in local authorities is resulting 
in some applications not meeting statutory deadlines and increasing 
numbers of building works without Sustainable Drainage Systems 
approval.

41 A requirement since January 2019 under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010.Pack Page 55



page 45 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

1 Audit approach and methods

Appendices

Pack Page 56



page 46 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Audit approach

There are currently several important reviews of flood risk management 
underway, and some which have recently been completed (Exhibit 13). Rather 
than adding another review to the list, we chose to focus our work on explaining 
how flood risk management works and identifying key issues facing the flooding 
sector. The report is intended to help the public and those with a scrutiny 
function to understand the flooding sector and challenge delivery. The scope of 
our work did not include consideration of the flooding events in winter 2019-20 
because the investigation reports into the winter floods are part of a separate 
independent review. It included the following areas of focus:

•  the risks and impacts of flooding and coastal erosion;
•  the strategic approach to flood risk management in Wales;
•  investment in flood risk management;
•  workforce capacity; and
•  factors impacting performance and delivery of flood risk management, 

including the planning system.

1 Audit approach and methods

Pack Page 57



page 47 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Exhibit 13: previous, current and anticipated reviews of flood and coastal 
erosion risk management

Review Reviewer Publication date (actual or 
planned)

Coastal Flood and Erosion 
Risk Management in Wales

Auditor General for Wales July 2016

Coastal flood and erosion risk 
management in Wales

Senedd Public Accounts 
Committee

June 2017

Flooding in Wales Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment and Rural 
Affairs Committee

December 2020

Review of resources Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Committee 

Presented to the Committee 
in May 2022. Available on 
request to the committee

Review of flood risk 
legislation and associated 
policy 

Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Committee

Approved by the Committee 
in September 2022. Available 
on request to the committee

Independent review of 
investigation reports relating 
to flooding events of winter 
2019-20

Led by Professor Elwen 
Evans KC

Summer 2023

Review of long-term flood risk 
to infrastructure arising from 
climate change

National Infrastructure 
Commission for Wales

2023-24

Possible review of flood risk 
management legislation in 
England and Wales

Law Commission To be confirmed 

Source: Audit Wales summary

Pack Page 58



page 48 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

We also used this work to review progress addressing the recommendations 
of our 2016 review and those of the Senedd Public Accounts Committee in the 
2017. We found that the Welsh Government and its partners have completed 
all but one of the actions the Welsh Government committed to in its response to 
the recommendations42. Some of the issues identified in our report and that of 
the Public Accounts Committee are complex. As a result, although most of the 
actions in the Welsh Government’s previous response are complete, the issue 
they sought to address is the subject of further work by the Welsh Government 
and its partners. Areas of ongoing work are:

•  ensuring adequate revenue funding
•  clarifying roles and responsibilities; and
•  developing approaches to regional working.

We will consider conducting further work over the next few years to examine 
how well the Welsh Government, NRW and local authorities are responding to 
the challenges facing flood risk management.

Audit methods

Document review: we reviewed a range of documentation including the 
following

•  minutes from previous meetings of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee
•  guidance on adaptation to climate change and sustainable management of 

natural resources
•  the findings of other research and reviews regarding flood and coastal 

erosion risk management.
Observations: we attended the May and September 2022 meetings of the 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee.

Semi-structured interviews: we interviewed Welsh Government officials 
and staff from Natural Resources Wales and the Welsh Local Government 
Association. We also interviewed the chair of the Wales Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Committee.

42 The Welsh Government tasked NRW with creating a website as a single point of information 
for flood awareness in response to the fifth Senedd Public Accounts Committee’s review. 
NRW has started but not yet completed work on the website.Pack Page 59



page 49 A Picture of Flood Risk Management

Data analysis: we reviewed financial data on the Welsh Government’s 
expenditure on flood and coastal erosion risk management. We analysed how 
the Welsh Government funding specifically for flood risk management had been 
spent by Natural Resources Wales and local authorities. Our financial analysis 
does not include any local discretionary spending on flood risk management on 
top of the specific grant funding from the Welsh Government.

Feedback sessions: we met with the Welsh Government, Natural Resources 
Wales, the Welsh Local Government Association and the chair of the Wales 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Committee to discuss what we considered to be the 
key issues facing the flooding sector.

 

Pack Page 60



Audit Wales

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Pack Page 61



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 62

Agenda Item 5 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2.1 Letter from the Permanent Secretary to the Committee Chair on the Tailored Review
	2.2 Letter from the Welsh Government on the Supplementary Legislative Consent Memoranda on the Procurement Bill
	2.3 Letter from the Welsh Government to the Chair of the Legislation and Justice Committee on the Supplementary Legislative Consent Memoranda
	4 Audit Wales Report  - A Picture of Flood Risk Management
	PAPAC(6)-03-23 P1 - AGW report on Flooding - e
	A Picture of Flood Risk Management
	Contents
	About this report
	Key facts
	Key issues
	Flood risk management: context
	Climate change is increasing the risks of flooding
	Flooding can have a devastating impact on individuals, the economy and the environment
	Roles and responsibilities are complex and may require legislative change

	Flood risk management: strategy
	The Welsh Government’s Programme for Government commits to improving flood protection
	The Welsh Government’s National Strategy sets national objectives for flood risk management and high
	The National Strategy is underpinned by other strategies and plans

	Flood risk management: finances 
	Real terms funding for flood risk management has been broadly stable between 2016-17 and 2020-21 and
	Significant long-term investment is likely to be needed to tackle the increasing risks associated wi
	Public bodies are struggling to secure funding from other sources, including developers and the bene

	Flood risk management: capacity
	In the short term, workforce capacity is the biggest issue facing the flooding sector

	Flood risk management: performance and delivery
	Information on progress implementing shoreline management plans and local flood risk strategies and 
	Gaps in collective leadership and policy integration are hampering delivery
	Understanding the impact of flood risk management activity on levels of risk is difficult
	The overall picture of the condition of flood defences is not clear
	Building development in high flood risk areas could be exposing properties to avoidable risk but a l

	Appendices
	1 Audit approach and methods



	5 Draft Report - Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Accounts 2020-21



